
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Annual Council 
Meeting 
Agenda 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

22 May 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 

 

 
 

SUMMONS 
 
To All Members of the Council 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend the Annual meeting of the New Forest District 
Council, to be held in Council Chamber - Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, 
SO43 7PA on Monday, 22 May 2023, at 6.30 pm. 
 

 
Kate Ryan 
Chief Executive 
 
Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA 
www.newforest.gov.uk 
 
This agenda can be viewed online (https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk).   

It can also be made available on audio tape, in Braille and large print. 

Members of the public may watch this meeting live on the Council’s website. 

 
Enquiries to:  Matt Wisdom 
   Email: democratic@nfdc.gov.uk 
   Tel: 023 8028 5072 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

 Apologies 

 

1.   MINUTES (Pages 7 - 16) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2023 as a correct record. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  

 To note any declarations of interests made by members in connection with an 
agenda item.  The nature of the interests must also be specified. 
 
Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting. 

 

3.   VOTE OF THANKS TO THE OUTGOING CHAIRMAN  

 

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.newforest.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7C%7Cda8bae757d184b194a9e08dabcb628f4%7C09969afd0c3043739fd3ce5bbbf19141%7C0%7C0%7C638029787794355893%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=pyITIEABv8zOwjB4qtZ8V3vP2XsLS7LRjl2qb%2F8qQYI%3D&reserved=0
https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
mailto:karen.wardle@nfdc.gov.uk


 
 

 

4.   OUTGOING CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT  

 The Chairman will address the Council, after which he and his consort will be 
presented with badges of their past offices. 

 

5.   ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  

 To elect a Chairman of the Council to hold office until the Annual Meeting in 2024. 
 
Cllr Penman is the Council’s nomination for the ensuing year. 

 

6.   ADDRESS BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL  

 The newly-elected Chairman will address the Council. 
 

7.   APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN  

 To appoint a Vice-Chairman of the Council to hold office until the Annual Meeting in 
2024. 
 
Cllr Hawkins is the Council’s nomination for the ensuing year. 

 

8.   APPOINTMENT OF LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

 To appoint a Leader of the Council for the four year period ending May 2027. 
 

9.   APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDERS  

 The Leader of the Council will inform the Council of: 
 

(a) the name of the councillor they have appointed Deputy Leader of the 
Council; 

(b) the number and content of the Portfolios; and 
(c) the name of the councillor they have appointed to each Portfolio. 

 

10.   ELECTIONS 4 MAY 2023 - REPORT OF THE RETURNING OFFICER (To Follow) 

 To receive the report of the Returning Officer for the elections held on Thursday 4 
May 2023. 

 

11.   POLITICAL BALANCE OF THE COUNCIL  

 To report that the political composition of the Council following the District Elections 
held on Thursday 4 May 2023 is:- 
 
Conservative Group 26 (54.17%) 
 
Liberal Democrat Group 14 (29.17%) 
 
Independent Group 4 (8.33%) 
 
Green Group 3 (6.25%) 
  
Labour 1* 
 
*Non-aligned. 



 
 

 

12.   COMMITTEE AND PANEL STRUCTURE (Pages 17 - 18) 

 RECOMMENDED: 
 
1. To approve the following number of seats on each Committee and Panel in the 

Council’s Constitution:- 
 
Committee / Panel Number of Seats 
Appeals Committee 
 

13 

Audit Committee 
 

9 

General Purposes and Licensing Committee 
 

13 

HR Committee 
 

9 

Planning Committee 
 

13 

Housing and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel 
 

9 

Place and Sustainability Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel 
 

9 

Resources and Transformation Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

9 

 
2. To approve the Terms of Reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels as 

attached. 
 

13.   ALLOCATION OF SEATS AND APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES AND 
PANELS (To Follow) 

 To agree the allocation of seats to the political groups on those Committees and 
Panels to which the political balance rules apply, and to approve the appointment of 
Members to Committees and Panels. 

 

14.   APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS (Pages 19 - 20) 

 To consider the appointment of Independent Persons under the Localism Act 2011. 
 

15.   MEETING DATES  

 To note the following schedule of Council meetings for the remainder of the 2023/24 
municipal year, all commencing at 6.30 pm:- 
 

 10 July 2023 

 11 September 2023 

 9 October 2023 

 11 December 2023 

 26 February 2024 

 8 April 2024 

 13 May 2024 (Annual Meeting) 
 

16.   ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  

 



 
 

 

 At the conclusion of the Annual Council Meeting, the Annual 
Meetings of the Committees and Panels will be held 

 
 



17 APRIL 2023 

NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of a meeting of the New Forest District Council held on Monday, 17 April 
2023. 

* Cllr Alan O'Sullivan (Chairman)
* Cllr Neville Penman (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors: Councillors: 

* Alan Alvey
* Diane Andrews
* Ann Bellows
* Sue Bennison
* Geoffrey Blunden

Hilary Brand
* Alex Brunsdon
* Fran Carpenter

Louise Cerasoli
* Mark Clark
* Steve Clarke
* Jill Cleary
* Anne Corbridge
* Keith Craze
* Kate Crisell
* Sean Cullen
* Jack Davies
* Steve Davies

Arthur Davis
* Sandra Delemare
* Philip Dowd

Jan Duke
* Barry Dunning

Jacqui England
* Richard Frampton
* Allan Glass
* Andrew Gossage
* Michael Harris
* David Harrison

* David Hawkins
Edward Heron

* Jeremy Heron
* Alison Hoare
* Maureen Holding
* Christine Hopkins

Mahmoud Kangarani
* Joshua Kidd
* Emma Lane
* Martyn Levitt

Alexis McEvoy
Ian Murray

* Stephanie Osborne
* Caroline Rackham

Alvin Reid
* Joe Reilly
* Barry Rickman

Tony Ring
* Steve Rippon-Swaine
* David Russell

Ann Sevier
* Michael Thierry

Beverley Thorne
* Derek Tipp
* Neil Tungate
* Alex Wade
* Malcolm Wade
* Christine Ward
* John Ward

*Present

Officers Attending: 

Kate Ryan, James Carpenter, Grainne O'Rourke and Matt Wisdom. 

Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Brand, Davis, Duke, England, E 
Heron, Kangarani, McEvoy, Reid, Ring, Sevier and Thorne. 

7

Agenda Item 1



Council 17 APRIL 2023 

 

71 MINUTES  

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 February 2023, subject to the correction 
of the attendance list, be confirmed. 

72 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  

There were no declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests by Members. 

Cllr Rackham, for transparency purposes, declared her membership of the Totton 
Neighbourhood Plan Group. 

73 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Former Councillor Gwen Meaden 

The Chairman referred with great sadness to the recent passing of former 
Councillor Gwen Meaden.  Gwen was first elected to the District Council in 1991, to 
the Sway ward.  She served on the Policy and Resources, and Leisure Services 
Committees during her four years of service to the Council, which included 
representing the District on the outside body - Lymington Recreation Centre 
Consultative Committee.     

The Chairman expressed his sincere condolences to Gwen’s family and friends and 
on behalf of the Council, placed on record thanks for the service she had given to 
the District. 

Engagements 

The Chairman referred to the following recent engagements:- 

5 March 

Attended a lunch organised by the Mayor of Winchester to help raise funds for three 
charities, Trinity Winchester, The British Heart Foundation and Winchester Hospice, 
held at Abbey House, Winchester. 

9 March 

Attended the grand opening of the Fort Climate Centre in Beaulieu, in the presence 
of the Countess of Wessex (now the Duchess of Edinburgh). 

16 March 

Attended the Chairman of East Hampshire District Council’s Civic Morning, which 
included a guided tour of Gilbert White House.   

Attended the grand opening of Hythe and Dibden War Memorial Hospital, together 
with a tour of the facilities, which was postponed towards the end of last year. 

8



Council 17 APRIL 2023 

21 March 

Attended the Civic Day of the Chairman of Hart District Council, which was called 
“The Old and The New”.  It commenced with a presentation from Dr Nick Maslin, 
entitled “Mapping the Heritage of Hart” at the Elvetham and a tour of the historic 
Elvetham site.  Guests then relocated to Hartland Village, Fleet for the second part 
of the day to discover various aspects of the development of Hartland Village 
Community, including a short tour. 

27 March 

Welcomed new Council employees, accompanied by the Leader and Chief 
Executive. 

13 April 

Attended an event hosted by the Lord Mayor of Southampton, in support of her 
charities, City Reach Youth Project, Southampton Street Pastors and Southampton 
Hospitals Charity. 

Civic Service 

The Chairman referred to his Civic Service, held on 12 March, at St Mary 
Magdalene Church, New Milton.   

The service was attended by the Right Honourable Sir Desmond Swayne, Civic 
Heads, District and Parish Councillors, including the Vice-Chairman, friends and 
family.  The Chairman expressed his thanks to Reverend Andrew Bailey who held 
the service, as one of his final official events before his retirement. 

74 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

There were none. 

75 REPORTS OF THE CABINET 

The Leader of the Council presented the report of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 
March 2023 and moved that it be received.  Cllr Andrews seconded the motion. 

Paragraph 1 – Leader’s Announcements (Minute No 84) 

The Council was pleased to support a vote of thanks to all the Council staff for their 
work to support residents, communities and indeed councillors during the four years 
of the current administration. 

Paragraph 5 – Totton Community Engagement (Minute No 91) 

One Member highlighted the challenges facing Totton in respect of car parking.  It 
was suggested that a review would need to be undertaken in light of empty car 
parks, which was not in the best interest of the local community and businesses. 

A number of Members discussed the initiatives in their own wards for supporting 
vibrant high streets.  It was acknowledged that the new Council would need to 
consider its car parking strategy. 

9



Council 17 APRIL 2023 

RESOLVED: 

That the report be received. 

The Leader then presented the report of the Cabinet meeting held on 5 April 2023 
and moved the adoption of the recommendations.  Cllr Andrews seconded the 
motion. 

RESOLVED: 

That the report be received and the recommendations be adopted. 

76 QUESTIONS  

There were none. 

77 QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A 

Questions were put and answered under Standing Order 22A as follows:- 

 Cllr M Wade to the Portfolio Holder for Partnering and Wellbeing, Cllr
Blunden, on Accredited Community Safety Officers.

 From Cllr Osborne to the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Coastal
Services, Cllr S Davies, on flooding.

 From Cllr Clark to the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Investment and
Corporate Services, Cllr J Heron, on extraordinary debts owed to the
Council.

 From Cllr Rackham to the Leader of the Council on the protection of Dibden
Bay and the Solent Freeport.

 From Cllr J Davies to the Portfolio Holder for Partnering and Wellbeing, Cllr
Blunden, on services at Lymington Health and Leisure Centre.

Note:- 

A copy of the full questions and replies are attached to these minutes. 

78 NOMINATIONS FOR THE OFFICES OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN 

The Chairman invited Members to propose and second the nominations for the 
offices of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council received in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution. 

Cllr O’Sullivan moved that Cllr Penman be the Council’s nomination for the office of 
Chairman of the Council for 2023/24.  Cllr S Davies seconded the motion. 

Cllr Rackham moved that Cllr Cullen be the Council’s nomination for the office of 
Chairman of the Council for 2023/24.  Cllr J Davies seconded the motion. 

Members debated the nominations. 

Put to a secret ballot, Cllr Penman received the majority of votes. 

10



Council 17 APRIL 2023 

 

Cllr Penman moved that Cllr Hawkins be the Council’s nomination for the office of 
Vice-Chairman of the Council for 2023/24.  Cllr Hopkins seconded the motion. 

Cllr A Wade moved that Cllr Kangarani be the Council’s nomination for the office of 
Vice-Chairman of the Council for 2023/24.  Cllr Osborne seconded the motion. 

Members debated the nominations. 

Put to a secret ballot, Cllr Hawkins received the majority of votes. 

RESOLVED: 

That the Council’s Nominations for the Offices of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of 
the Council for 2023/24, be as follows- 

Chairman – Cllr Penman 
Vice-Chairman – Cllr Hawkins 

79 ALLOCATION OF SEATS AND APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES AND 
PANELS  

The Leader of the Council moved the adoption of the recommendations contained 
within the report, which asked the Council to make appointments to committees and 
panels in accordance with the principles as set out in Section 15 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  Cllr Andrews seconded the motion. 

The Council, having received both the wishes of the political groups and the 
preferences of the non-aligned Members, considered the option to allocate seats to 
the non-aligned Members as nearly as possible in proportion to the number of those 
members on the Council. 

RESOLVED: 

1. That the allocation of seats to committees and panels in accordance with
the principles set out in the report, be agreed as at paragraph 4.6 of the
report; and

2. That the Council gives effect to the wishes of the political groups in making
appointments to these Committees and Panels, for the remainder of the four
year period ending May 2023.

CHAIRMAN 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



FULL COUNCIL – 17 APRIL 2023 – QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER 

STANDING ORDER 22A 

Question 1 

From Cllr Malcolm Wade to the Portfolio Holder for Partnering and Wellbeing, Cllr 

Blunden 

The Liberal Democrats in Hythe and Dibden brought in Accredited Community Safety 

Officers to support the response to community safety issues the Police do not have the 

resources to deal with.  Would this authority work with Town and Parish councillors across 

the New Forest to bring back a community safety service to the whole District? 

Answer: 

The New Forest District was one of the pilot areas in Hampshire which introduced the role of 

Accredited Community Safety Officers in 2004 to support the community in dealing with 

incidents of low level anti-social behaviour (ASB) and crime.  The service was initially 

launched in four areas including Basingstoke and Deane, Gosport, and Havant, with an 

average of six officers covering the New Forest District area.  The role out of Accredited 

Community Safety Officers pre-dated the introduction and roll out of Hampshire Police 

Community Support Officers (PCSOs), providing a new resource model when addressing 

low level crime, ASB and community reassurance.   

Following a review in early 2014 by Hampshire County Council and relevant contributing 

authorities, the Accredited Community Support Officer scheme was withdrawn as it was 

identified that the work of the service overlapped with the role of the PCSOs.  This model of 

Police engagement and community reassurance has extended further with the New Forest 

being supported by 20 full time PCSOs.     

The District Council, through its partnership arrangements with the Safer New Forest 

Strategy & Delivery Group, in consultation with members of New Forest Association of Local 

Councils (NFALC), formulate an annual strategic and operational partnership plan to tackle 

and reduce crime and disorder within the District.  This Partnership is an extremely 

successful partnership, bringing together resources from the Police, Hampshire County 

Council, the Probation Service and other statutory partners.  The Council plays a lead role in 

that Partnership, I am pleased to say.  

As Members will know from this Administration’s budget set just two months ago, we have 

committed a further £300,000 to be spent on enhancing our public space CCTV network to 

include additional areas of coverage and this will be done in consultation with local Town 

and Parish Councils to inform local needs.  All of these actions, including our commitment to 

and support of the wider community safety partnership, will continue to ensure the New 

Forest District area remains a safe place to live, work and visit.  This has been borne out by 

our recent Residents Insight Survey. 

Members, I am delighted to see the Council playing a leading role in helping to keep our 

District a safe place to live, work and visit. 

Note – in response to a supplementary question, the Portfolio Holder highlighted the work of 

the Council in to reduce crime and disorder as part of the partnership arrangements and 

reiterated that a need for ACSOs had not been identified with partners. 

Minute Item 77

13



Question 2 

From Cllr Stephanie Osborne to the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Coastal 

Services, Cllr Steve Davies 

What is the administration doing to address the flooding we are experiencing?  Recently, 

Shore road in Hythe was impassable.  The water was so deep it would have entered even a 

4x4 car outside the sailing club.  Beaulieu was flooded by the river and huge congestion built 

up as cars could only pass on the kerb side. 

Answer: 

Thank you Cllr Osborne for your question which raises concerns that many share; the 

potential impact of flooding is a concern to us all.  As you will no doubt be aware there are 

various partner organisations with responsibilities for flooding, particularly where it is coastal 

or fluvial.  In fact, these concerns were discussed in December when, with Steve Cook 

(Service Manager Coastal), I met with Hythe’s Cllr Dowd and a resident. 

As was explained in that meeting, this is a case where the flooding referred to would appear 

to be the remit of the Environment Agency.  With regards to Hythe, we are aware that the 

Environment Agency has a proposal to undertake an FCERM, a Flood & Coastal Erosion 

Risk Management Strategy for the eastern side of the district.  Specifically, the FCERM will 

cover the Lymington to Redbridge coastline in its forward programme of work - this is 

provisionally planned for commencement in 2025/26. 

I have asked our officers to forward on the concerns you have raised to our contacts at the 

Environment Agency so that they can be aware of the localised issues that you have raised 

and I will share any response received directly with you. 

I note your comments about Beaulieu. I’ve seen the results of spring tides on the river banks 

and adjacent roads a few times – this matter is again one to be discussed with our 

environment partners and I would think the land owners - Beaulieu estates. 

Question 3 

From Cllr Mark Clark to the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Investment and Corporate 

Services, Cllr Jeremy Heron 

Can the Portfolio Holder for Finance please outline at the close of this administration what 

key extraordinary debts are outstanding to this authority and the level of any debts 

outstanding to any other authority in the form of loans from NFDC? 

Answer: 

Cllr Clark, as there is no activity out-of-the ordinary planned between now, and the date of 

the election, I have used the 31st March as the year-end date to answer your questions, as 

opposed to forecasting to the election date in May. 

In terms of extraordinary debts, I can assure the Councillor we have none that would be 

considered extraordinary. 

The Council provided a loan facility to the New Forest Enterprise Centre during 2022, to 

support a major maintenance project at the centre.  The Council has a significant vested 

interest in the operation of the centre, and has 3 members on the board of directors.  The 

loan was issued on commercial terms, and as of the 31st March, there is £300,000 

14



outstanding.  The outstanding loan has not yet surpassed its expiry date, and in fact the 

directors opted to repay some of the initial loan early during January 2023. 

In terms of lending to other Local Authorities, as allowable through the Council’s Treasury 

Management Strategy, a strategy approved and adopted by this full Council, the Council had 

no loans outstanding as at the 31st March. 

Question 4 

From Cllr Caroline Rackham to the Leader of the Council, Cllr Jill Cleary 

Would the current administration let us know exactly how they're going to safeguard Dibden 

Bay from development after allowing it to be included in the freeport area? 

Answer: 

As has been discussed a number of times, any development on this site will need planning 

permission either from the District Council or the Secretary of State depending on the scale 

of the development.  As and when there is a proposal, the impact of the development on the 

environment will be fully assessed.  Designation as a tax site within the Freeport in no way 

changes or impacts on this process. 

Note – in response to a supplementary question on what NFDC would do in the event of the 

scale of the development being a matter for the Secretary of State to determine, the Leader 

confirmed that this would be a matter for the new administration post May 2023. 

Question 5 

From Cllr Jack Davies to the Portfolio Holder for Partnering and Wellbeing, Cllr Geoff 

Blunden 

Will any pressure be put on Freedom Leisure by the Council to re-open the sauna and steam 

room permanently at Lymington Health and Leisure Centre? 

Answer: 

I am really pleased that Freedom Leisure have taken the decision to trial the re-opening of 

the Sauna and Steam room facilities, initially at Lymington and Totton Health and Leisure 

centres.  They intend to capture usage data and customer feedback over the period of the 

trial, and will make an informed decision on whether permanent re-opening makes good 

business sense.  It certainly wouldn’t be sensible for me to commit to exerting pressure on a 

permanent re-opening, considering these facilities are high consumers of energy, if data 

down the line suggests an extremely low level of usage. 

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



2 / 3 

 1 
 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS 
 
The statutory overview and scrutiny functions of the Council shall be undertaken by 
Overview and Scrutiny Panels.  The Council has appointed the following Overview and 
Scrutiny Panels it deems necessary to ensure that effective arrangements are in place to 
facilitate the involvement of all Members who are not Members of the Cabinet and to 
ensure that the decisions and policies of the Cabinet can be investigated.  Each Panel 
shall have a particular responsibility for the overview and scrutiny of the following Council 
services:- 

 

 

1.  Housing and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
(a) Housing Estate Management and Support 
(b) Housing Maintenance and Compliance 
(c) Housing Options, Rents, Support and Private Sector Housing 
(d) Housing Strategy and Development 
(e) Environmental and Regulation (including licensing, health and wellbeing and 

Arts and Culture) 
(f) This Panel will also be the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee under 

Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006, with power to co-opt 
representatives of the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership onto the 
Panel when it reviews Partnership matters, and to agree terms of such co-
option.  

 

2.  Place and Sustainability Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
(a) Coastal 
(b) Waste and Transport 
(c) Environmental Enforcement and Amenities 
(d) Grounds and Streetscene 
(e) Sustainability and Climate Change 
(f) Planning Development Management 
(g) Planning Policy and Infrastructure 
(h) Economic Development 
(i) Building Control 

 

3. Resources and Transformation Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
a) Finance 
b) Estates and Valuation 
c) Revenues and Customer Services 
d) Human Resources 
e) ICT 
f) Elections 
g) Transformation and Improvement 
h) Performance and Insight 
i) Communications 
j) Democratic Services 
k) Legal Services 
l) Information Governance and Complaints 

 

17

Agenda Item 12



2 / 3 

 2 
 

 
The general terms of reference of Overview and Scrutiny Panels appointed by the Council 
shall be as follows:- 

 
1. To review 'called in' decisions in accordance with the procedures set out in the 

Constitution. 
2. To prepare, implement, and regularly review a Work Programme. 
3. To report annually to Full Council on the output of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, 

providing an assessment of the value added by the work undertaken. 
4. To establish work as appropriate after taking into account the availability of resources, 

the work programme and the matter under review. 
5. To undertake policy reviews, making recommendations to the Cabinet to assist in the 

development of future policies and strategies. 
6. To scrutinise the decisions of the Cabinet, offering advice or making 

recommendations on the matter. 
7. To monitor the implementation of decisions to examine their effect and outcomes. 
8.  Subject to compliance with any provisions within legislation and the Council’s 

Constitution, to delegate any of the functions of the Panel to an officer of the Council. 

18



ANNUAL COUNCIL – 22 MAY 2023 
 

LOCALISM ACT 2011 – APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT 
PERSONS 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 That the Council appoint the following Independent Persons for a four year term of 

office commencing 22 May 2023, until the Council’s Annual Meeting in 2027:- 
 

 Judy-Anne Clements 

 Mark Edmonds 

 David Hewitt 
 

2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 In accordance with Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council in making 

arrangements for dealing with complaints made against councillors, must include 
provision for the appointment by the authority of at least one independent person.  The 
Independent Person’s views may be sought, and taken into account, before a decision 
is made in respect of any allegations that a councillor has failed to comply with the 
relevant Code of Conduct. 
 

2.2 At its meeting of 27 February 2023, the Council resolved to delegate authority to the 
Monitoring Officer, to commence a recruitment process for the appointment of new 
Independent Persons.  It was agreed that recommendations should be made to the 
Council by a Panel comprising the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and the Service 
Manager for Democratic and Support Services. 

 
3. RECRUITMENT PROCESS 
 
3.1 Following the Council resolution in February 2023, the Council advertised the 

appointment of Independent Persons through a number of means, including the 
Council’s website, local newspapers, resident email bulletins and social media. 

 
3.2 A total of 18 applications were received.  The standard of application was very high 

and the Chief Executive and officer team undertook a shortlisting and interview 
exercise.  At interview, the role of the Independent Person was explored with 
candidates, the time commitment involved, the skills required to be effective in the role, 
and the relevant disqualifications under the Localism Act 2011. 

 
3.3 Following the recruitment process, the Appointment Panel is recommending the 

appointment of three Independent Persons, as follows:- 
 
 Judy-Anne Clements 
 
 A justice of the Peace (Magistrate) for 26 years, Judy-Anne has had an extensive 

career of an administrative / secretarial nature in Local Government, Police, Social 
Services Departments and the NHS. 

 
Mark Edmonds 

 
 A retired Local Government Officer of over 20 years, Mark has also worked closely 

with the Care Quality Commission, specialising in performance analysis, strategy and 
planning and corporate governance.  Mark has significant experience in considering 
the outcome of complaint and grievance investigations. 

19

Agenda Item 14



 David Hewitt 
 
 With a long standing career in technology, before running a Management Consultant 

and Training business, David served 13 years as a non-executive Chair of an NHS 
Finance Trust in addition to work as a Co-Opted Member of a Local Authority 
Education Committee.  David has added significant value to the District Council as a 
serving Independent Person since 2012. 

 
3.4 It is recognised that the recommended appointments include the re-appointment of 

David Hewitt, who has served very effectively as an Independent Person since 2012.  
In making new appointments alongside the Council’s existing Independent Person, 
arrangements for shadowing and learning opportunities will be pursued with the new 
appointees and a smooth transition achieved. 

 
3.5 Full training will be provided to the new Independent Persons, with refresher training 

for the re-appointed Independent Person. 
 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The role of Independent Person attracts a modest allowance under the Council’s 

Scheme of Members’ Allowances, currently £331 per annum for each Independent 
Person. 

 
5. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising directly from this report. 
 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no environmental implications arising directly from this report. 
 
7. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 All candidates for the position of Independent Person were asked to commit to the 

public sector equality duty and the principle of equal opportunities as part of the 
application process. 

 
 
For further information contact: 
 
Matt Wisdom 
Service Manager – Democratic and Support 
Services 
023 8028 5072 
Matt.wisdom@nfdc.gov.uk 

Background Papers: 
 
Localism Act 2011 
Procedures for dealing with complaints 
made about councillors 

 

20

mailto:Matt.wisdom@nfdc.gov.uk
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1201/Complain-against-a-councillor
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1201/Complain-against-a-councillor

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes
	77 Questions To Portfolio Holders Under Standing Order 22A

	12 Committee and Panel Structure
	14 Appointment of Independent Persons

